
 

 

8590 Park Drive  :  PO Box 787  :  Mount Pleasant, North Carolina 28124  :  tel. 704-436-9803  :  fax 704-436-2921 

Website:  www.mtpleasantnc.org      Email:   townhall@mtpleasantnc.us       

  

 
 

Planning & Zoning Board Meeting 
Town Hall - 8590 Park Drive Mount Pleasant, NC 

Monday, April 26, 2021 
6:00 PM  

 
1. Call to Order-Chair Whit Moose 

 
2. Recognition of Quorum 
 
3. Conflict of Interest 

The Chairman and Board Members are asked at this time to reveal if they have a Conflict of Interest 
with any item on the Agenda in order to be recused for that item. (No member shall be excused 
from voting except upon matters involving the consideration of the member's own financial 
interest or official conduct or on matters on which the member is prohibited from voting under 
G.S. 14-234, 160A-381(d), or 160A-388(e)(2). NC State Statute 160A-75) 
 

4. Approval of Agenda 
 
5. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings (January 25, 2021) 
 
6. Public Comment Period   
 
7. Planning Board Cases 
 

TA 2021-01 Statute 160D Amendments 
The Planning Board will review and discuss Development Ordinance Articles 1-3 regarding 
amendments required by the new Chapter 160D of the North Carolina General Statutes.  No 
action to be taken. 
 
TA 2021-02  Infrastructure Standards 
The Planning Board will briefly discuss upcoming proposed amendments to the Town’s 
infrastructure standards.  No action to be taken. 
 

8. Board of Adjustment Cases 
None 

 
9. Reports 

Planning Report and Zoning Permits for February-April (to date) 
 

10. Planning & Zoning Board Comment Period 
 

11. Adjourn 



 

 
 

8590 Park Drive  :  PO Box 787  :  Mount Pleasant, North Carolina 28124  :  tel. 704-436-9803  :  fax 704-436-2921 
  

Website:  www.mtpleasantnc.org      Email:   townhall@mtpleasantnc.us       
  

   TOWN OF MOUNT PLEASANT, NORTH CAROLINA 
Planning and Zoning Board Meeting Minutes 

January 25, 2021 
 

Members Present:  
Chairman - Whit Moose 
Vice-Chairman - Mike Steiner 
Member - Bridget Fowler  
Member - Shirley Freeman 
Member - Rick Burleyson  
Alternate – Warren Love 
P&Z Clerk to the Board - Jennifer Blake 
Planning & Economic Development Director - Erin Burris 
 
Also Attending:  Town Attorney John Scarbrough, Developers Clinton and Emmitt Black, 
Builder William Niblock, Ken Foster, and Mitch Latham. 
 
Call to Order: Chairman Whit Moose called the Town of Mount Pleasant Planning and 
Zoning Board meeting to order at 6:02 pm. 
 
Recognition of Quorum: Chairman Whit Moose stated a quorum was present. 
 
Swearing in of Reappointed Members: Clerk to the Board, Jennifer Blake administered 
the Oath of Office to reappointed members, Mike Steiner, and Shirley Freeman.  The Board 
members repeated the Oath of Office.  The term for both Board members is from July 1, 
2020 until June 30, 2023. 
 
Conflict of Interest:  
The Chairman and Board Members are asked at this time to reveal if they have a Conflict 
of Interest with any item on the Agenda in order to be excused for that item. (No member 
shall be excused from voting except upon matters involving the consideration of the 
member's own financial interest or official conduct or on matters on which the member is 
prohibited from voting under G.S. 14-234, 160A-381(d), or 160A-388(e)(2). NC State 
Statute 160A-75). 
 
Town Attorney, John Scarbrough disclosed that he has previously represented Niblock 
Homes in other matters, but not for this matter. 
 
Approval of Agenda: Chairman Whit Moose made a motion to approve the agenda.   Mike 
Steiner made a motion to approve the agenda with a second by Bridget Fowler.  All were in 
favor. (5-0) 
 
Approval of Minutes of Previous Meeting:  Chairman Whit Moose entertained a motion 
to approve the minutes for December 7, 2020.  A motion to approve the previous minutes 
was made by Rick Burleyson with a second by Mike Steiner.  All members were in favor (5-
0). 
 
Public Comment:  None  



 
Planning and Zoning Board Cases: 
 
SUB 2020-03 Brighton Park 
The applicant requests approval of a Major Subdivision Preliminary Plat that includes 179 
single-family residential lots as well as a recreational amenity center with a pool and 
clubhouse. 
Location: Southwest corner of NC Highway 73 and NC Highway 49 including 7000, 7110, 
7130, 7150 NC Highway 73 E. Cabarrus County Parcel Numbers 5560-56-4096, 6785, 
8647, 9681. 
Current Zoning: RM. Area: 86.77 acres. 
 
Erin Burris reviewed the background, public facility capacity, zoning and subdivision 
criteria, and procedures and actions. 
 
Mrs. Burris provided the Board with an updated Future Land Use Map showing the Brighton 
Park property as medium intensity. 
 
A copy of the packet is in the minute book 
 
Questions opened for Erin Burris to answer. 
 
Erin Burris answered Whit Moose’s question about sidewalks on Highway 73 and Highway 
49.  Mrs. Burris stated that the proposed interior street cross section meets the ordinance.  
They have a 50-foot right of way, 5-foot sidewalks on both sides with a buffer strip from the 
back of the curb to the sidewalk, a requested 5-foot utility easement behind the sidewalks.  
She also mentioned Condition #2 for requirement of Adopted Cabarrus-Rowan 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) Comprehensive Transportation Plan (CTP) 
shows 4E cross section with multi-use path along Highway 73. 
 
Mrs. Burris answered Mike Steiner’s question about not having an entrance on Highway 49.  
The property owners did get permission from NCDOT back around 2009 to have a right-in 
and a right-out access point, but the developer chose not to utilize that option. 
 
Also, Mrs. Burris answered Warren Love’s question about having changes to have an 
entrance on Highway 49 later.  Mrs. Burris shared that once you approve a preliminary plat, 
the developer cannot add lots or significantly change the layout once it has been approved.   
 
Mrs. Burris answered Rick Burleyson’s question regarding the sewer for the development 
being with the new Empire Drive pump station.  Mrs. Burris said there is going to be a 
gravity sewer line that bores under Highway 49 and connects to the new Empire Drive 
pump station.  This is going to retire the Food Lion pump station and Meadowbrook pump 
station, as well as relieve pressure from the Summer Street pump station. The Town 
currently has the sewer easement, a driveway access from Empire Drive, and pump station 
site secured.  The pump station is currently being engineered for installation after USDA 
financing is approved. 
 
Mrs. Burris said that the timing will have to work out properly and the Town will work closely 
with the developer.  The Town Attorney can work on developing an agreement about the 
line size and timing to make sure the Town and developer are aware of the expectations on 
that. 



 
Mrs. Burris answered Whit Moose about the 3 lots to the East on Highway 73 just over the 
bridge.  The 3 lots are in the high intensity designation and are owned by the same person.  
There is one house on the property to the left (closest to development) and the other 2 
spaces are vacant.  The property owner is aware of the development and is still occupying 
the home. 
 
Mrs. Burris let the developers answer Rick Burleyson’s question about how the phases will 
be built  - front to back or back to front.  One of the developers with Niblock answered it 
would be built front to back starting at Highway 73 and both entrances would be built in the 
first phase. 
 
Mrs. Burris answered Warren Love about having data for how it effects the Fire Department 
and EMT.  She provides plans to the Fire Chief, Fire Marshall, and Emergency 
Management about the development.  Mrs. Burris said she received an e-mail back with no 
comment on impact and they had no issues.    
 
Mrs. Burris did not include the Sheriff’s department in the letter because they are not listed 
as part of the Technical Review Committee in the ordinance, but she include the Sheriff’s 
department to be added as part of the Technical Review Committee in the future.  She can 
also show the plans to the Sheriff’s department before the Construction Drawings are 
completed. 
 
Mrs. Burris answered Warren Love about the school capacity accounting for planned 
development in their numbers. The schools are keeping track of students by receiving 
preliminary plats that tell them how many units they are dealing with.  
 
Whit Moose opened the discussion from the Developers 
William Niblock of Niblock Homes 
Poplar Tent Road 
Concord, NC  28027 
 
He has been building homes and developing property for over 40 years.  He has built 
around 2,500 to 3,000 in Cabarrus County.  He has known the Black brothers for many 
years and thought this would be a wonderful partnership to build nice homes in Mount 
Pleasant.  The property has great topography and good road access.  Mr. Niblock said he 
would be timing their efforts based on the completion of the sewer pump station.  This 
project would be like the size and scope to a neighborhood down the road at Bedford 
Farms on Heglar Road below the Buffalo Farm property.   
 
The phases will be determined by the sewer work and where the entrances go.  If a 
developer puts in more than 30 lots, two access points are required for fire protection.  The 
first phase may take longer because of all the upfront costs with sewer lines and putting in 
both entrances.  The next phases may depend on what is logical with the road layout and 
how the sewer line serves the individual area.  He wants to build something that he and the 
Town would be proud of and is happy to be a part of this process. 
 
Mr. Niblock answered the following questions from Board members: 
 
Mr. Niblock confirmed that they did not want an entrance at Highway 49 and that the two 
(2) entrances on Highway 73 would be sufficient with all the road improvements. 



 
Mr. Niblock did say there would be a HOA to maintain the entrance ways, open space, and 
the pool.  He guessed the HOA’s would run about $650 per year.  The builder would hand 
off the HOA to be handled by an attorney to come up with rules and fees. 
 
Mr. Niblock said the name for the development, Brighton Park was picked by his marketing 
team to make sure the name is not like surrounding areas and they liked the name.  The 
street names had to be picked with several options for approval by Cabarrus County E-911 
addressing. 
 
Mr. Niblock stated that he could have up to 8 to 12 floor plans.  He tries to allow for 
customized plans as much as possible but may start with around 8 pre-priced plans and 
add the customized as they are needed. 
 
Mr. Niblock addressed concerns about cars parking on the sidewalks and on the street.  
They can put HOA covenants in place and there are certain things they can do control and 
some things they cannot control.  If a car is in the Town’s right-of-way someone could call 
the Sheriff, but he would try to add to the parking and to restrict as much of that as they are 
allowed. 
 
Also, Mr. Niblock said that he planned on completing all phases of the neighborhood.  He 
will have conditions that are guidelines that go with the land and you cannot change those.  
The infrastructure alone will be around $50 – $60,000 a lot and the houses would need to 
be a higher price point to justify this expense.  He has been doing this for 40 years and it is 
his intent to try to build all the phases. 
 
A motion was made by Mike Steiner to approve the preliminary plat with conditions to meet 
the minimum standards of the Development Ordinance as outlined by staff including the 
following: 
 
1. Coordinate infrastructure sizing, timing, and location with Town of Mount Pleasant. 
2. Adopted Cabarrus-Rowan Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) Comprehensive 

Transportation Plan (CTP) shows 4E cross section with multi-use path (110’-125’).  
Provide minimum 10’ multi-use path along NC Highway 73 frontage. 

3. All open space shall be classified in accordance with Section 6.5.7. 
4. Pool/Recreational Amenity Center will have to be submitted as a separate site plan.  
5. Since the street right-of-way is only 50 feet wide, each lot shall have a minimum of three 

on-site parking spaces. Parking pads shall be a minimum of 25’ feet deep and each 
parking space shall be a minimum of 9’ x 18’. 

6. Provide minimum 40’ Type C Buffer along Highway 73 and 49 frontages. 
7. Section 7.7 requires a minimum of one street tree per 100 feet along new streets.  The 

Town prefers that these trees be in yards as opposed to the planting strip.  Add note that 
a canopy tree will be planted in each front yard of each property.  A planting plan can be 
provided with construction drawings. 

8. Provide a 5’ utility easement on the backside of the street right-of-way. 
9. Due to size of development, traffic calming measures including three-way and four-way 

stops will be required within the development. Traffic calming measures can be 
addressed on construction drawings. 

10. Fire flow tests must be performed prior to Construction Drawing approval.  Fire flow 
is anticipated to be improved with water line improvements along Highway 49 
currently under design. 



11. The project will disturb more than one acre.  A Phase II stormwater permit from 
NCDEQ will be required for the site development. The party that will maintain the 
stormwater structures also needs to be established (i.e. homeowners association).  
All local, state, or federal environmental regulations shall be followed. 

12. Development shall demonstrate compliance with NC Fire Code during Construction 
Drawing review. 

13. Meet NCDOT standards for driveway permits. 
 
A second was made by Rick Burleyson.  All were in favor (5-0) 
 
Board of Adjustment Cases:  None 
 
Reports 
Mrs. Burris reviewed the cases and permits for January 2021. 
 

A copy of the reports is included in the minute book. 
  
Mrs. Burris reviewed the Comprehensive Plan and Transportation updates. 
 
Rick Burleyson asked a question about the Washington Street sidewalk if the sidewalks 
would be on the same side or flip to the other side.   
Erin Burris stated that the sidewalks would flip to the other side since the Town owns 
property where additional right-of-way would be needed.  She stated it may not score well 
since it is not a major street, but it is the only sidewalk she can do that may have a chance 
with doing all the improvements around the Town Hall property. 
 
Bridget Fowler asked about what happened to the Townhomes on South Skyland Drive.  
Erin Burris stated that she touched base with the landowner a while back.  They wanted to 
have another site to do more Townhomes at the same time.  It is hard to build 16 when 
they want to build at least 30 Townhomes to make it cost effective.  Finding other property 
to develop at the same time has not happened yet.   Mrs. Burris said they can build anytime 
because they have all their approvals but not sure when that will be.  
 
Bridget Fowler asked about the construction of the new pump station and if it affects 
Skyland Drive.  Erin Burris said that Skyland Drive goes to the Summer Street pump station 
and is at full capacity. The Town will replace the Summer Street pump station soon 
because every time it rains heavy, there is an issue.  However, with this new Empire Drive 
pump station they are going to reroute the townhomes/apartments sewage to this pump 
station and take more pressure off Summer Street.  It will open up the capacity, but it still 
needs to be replaced. 
 
Whit Moose asked to clarify the mural ordinance.  Erin Burris stated that if a building is in a 
National Registered District and it is a contributing structure, and the brick has not already 
painted, then you could not do a mural.  But the Old Barringer Motors building has already 
been painted white, so a mural can be put on it. 
 
Erin Burris responded to Bridget Fowler on the Town of Mount Pleasant participating in the 
Chamber of Commerce’s effort to pass out blue lights out for police officers.  Mrs. Burris 
said she could mention it to Town Manager to bring up to the Town Board. 
 



A copy of the Transportation and Comprehensive Plan Implementation is included in the 
Minute Book. 

 
Adjournment:   
With no further discussion, Chairman Whit Moose entertained a motion to adjourn.  A 
motion was made by Bridget Fowler with a second by Whit Moose.  All members were in 
favor (5-0). 
 
 
 
 
 
__________________________  ____________________________ 
Chairman, Whit Moose      Clerk to Board Jennifer Blake 
 
 



 

 
 
 

Planning and Economic Development 

April 26, 2021 
 
Cases 
 
SUB 2020-03  Brighton Park Preliminary Plat 
Description:  179 single family lots with community clubhouse and pool 
Area:  approx. 86.77 acres 
Proposed Density:  2.06 dwelling units per acre 
Location:  Southwest corner of NC Highway 73 and NC Highway 49 
Cabarrus County Parcel Number:  5660-56-4096, 6785, 8647, & 9681 
Zoning:  RM Residential Medium Density 
Current Status:  Awaiting construction drawings 
 
SUB 2020-02  Pleasant Crossing (old middle school site-formerly Tiger Crossing) 
Description:  Preliminary Plat for 13 commercial lots and 34 townhome lots 
Area:  approx. 22.18 acres 
Cabarrus County Parcel Numbers: 5670-17-7936 
Zoning:  OI Office & Institutional (5.481 ac), C-2 General Commercial (12.413 ac), RH Residential High Density 
(4.285 ac) 
Current Status:  Awaiting Construction Drawings. 
 
Permits 
February, March, & April 2021 reports attached 
 
Comprehensive Plan Implementation 
• Town Staff prepared a Request for Qualifications for professional architectural and engineering services 

ahead of application for a USDA Community Facilities Loan for improvements to the Municipal Complex.  
Proposals are currently under review and project scope is being considered as part of this year’s budgeting 
process. 

• Town staff submitted a grant application for three studies for the Mount Pleasant National Register Historic 
District:  an updated architectural survey, an updated National Register District Study Form, and a 
comprehensive stormwater study and plan for the downtown portion of the National Register District to 
help plan for mitigation to avoid future storm damage.  This grant is available through the National Park 
Service for Hurricane Florence Relief.  This is a full grant with no match required.  The Town had previously 
budgeted $20,000 for the National Register District.  The Town has been awarded $94,250 for the three 
studies.  The grant will be processed through the federal government with procurement anticipated in Spring 
of 2021. 

• The Downtown Historic Photo Mural Program is proceeding with the first mural to be placed on the Old 
Barringer’s Motor Building, local artist Cicada Studios is working on artistic modifications for the image, and 
the image will be applied to the wall as vinyl by TPM, an experienced company that has also completed 
mural work in downtown Concord.  A directory sign for the block will also be installed.  Work is anticipated 
to be complete by July 1. 

• Staff met with representatives from LKC, NCDOT, Duke Energy, and telecommunications providers to discuss 
what can be done during the waterline project to accommodate burial or rerouting of overhead utility lines 
in the square. 

• Staff has been working with Bizzell Designs on the design for the Highway 49/73 interchange gateway sign.    
Mr. Bizzell has provided an estimate of $6,500 for construction drawings. 

https://tax.cabarruscounty.us/SearchResults.aspx?field=parcel&parcel=56701779360000


 
Transportation 
• This spring, NCDOT will be working on the Highway 73 and Main Street intersection improvement project 

with anticipated completion by July 1.  This project was supposed to be completed more than a year and a 
half ago, but was delayed due to NCDOT budget constraints.  All on-street parking in the square will be 
removed, and there will be new turn lanes on Highway 73 (Franklin Street). 

• Town Staff submitted a CMAQ funding application for the N. Washington Street sidewalk shown on the 
adopted Bicycle and Pedestrian Project Acceleration Plan. 

 
 



February and March 2021 Zoning Permits

Permit # Date Cab. Co. # Add. # Street Name Type Permit Description Applicant Notes
Z-2021-02 2/10/2021 5670-23-0279 8360 W. Franklin St. Change/Sign Mount Pleasant Mercantile David Boger CoC
Z-2021-03 2/10/2021 5670-33-2046 8820 Erbach Lane Accessory Detached Garage Michael Benton Jr.
Z-2021-04 2/11/2021 5579-48-6065 8854 Erbach Lane Accessory Detached Garage Scott Williams
Z-2021-05 2/11/2021 5670-52-2811* 9013 Reid St. New Single-family residential Morris Construction
Z-2021-06 2/11/2021 5670-52-2811* 9015 Reid St. New Single-family residential Morris Construction
Z-2021-07 2/11/2021 5670-52-2811* 9017 Reid St. New Single-family residential Morris Construction
Z-2021-08 2/22/2021 5670-13-7813 1251 N. College St. Sign MPUMC Electronic Sign Casco Signs
Z-2021-09 2/22/2021 5660-57-8745 445 S. Moose Rd. New Single-family residential John Estep
Z-2021-10 2/25/2021 5660-57-8745 9822 Foil Road Accessory Storage Shed Michael Threadgill

9 Zoning Permits
*new parcel number pending



March 2021 Zoning Permits

Permit # Date Cab. Co. # Add. # Street Name Type Permit Description Applicant Notes
Z-2021-11 3/8/2021 5660-96-7262 782 N. Skyland Dr. New Single-family residential Prespro

n/a 3/8/2021 5670-04-0635 8115 W. Franklin St. CoC Mount Pleasant Hit Mill Kathryn Craver see Z-2019-62
Z-2021-12 3/30/2021 5671-31-0381 8620 Fisher Rd. Home Occ. Palmer and Pine Brooke Preddy
Z-2021-13 3/26/2021 5670-32-3066 1596 Barringer St. Demo. Demolish single-family home Chris Swofford
Z-2021-14 3/30/2021 5660-95-6402 7920 W. Franklin St. Repair Replace destroyed canopy Servpro MP Church of God

  4 Zoning Permits
1 Certificate of Compliance



April 2021 Zoning Permits

Permit # Date Cab. Co. # Add. # Street Name Type Permit Description Applicant Notes
Z-2021-15 4/1/2021 5660-95-4512* 906 S. Skyland Dr. New Single-family residential Prespro
Z-2021-16 4/1/2021 5660-95-4512* 918 S. Skyland Dr. New Single-family residential Prespro
Z-2021-17 4/1/2021 5670-08-6184 8105 North Drive Addition Addition to existing SFR Beverly Hinson
Z-2021-18 4/1/2021 5670-21-4977 8510 Lee St. Accessory Storage Shed Charles Hendricks
Z-2021-19 4/6/2021 5660-74-1578 1028 Allman Road Ext. Accessory Storage Shed Wanda Motley
Z-2021-20 4/16/2021 5671-00-4443 8100 Fisher Road Addition Addition to existing SFR Greg Vickers
Z-2021-21 4/19/2021 5670-32-3066 1596 Barringer Street New Single-family residential Mays Construction
Z-2021-22 4/19/2021 5670-32-2087 8613 Lee St. New Single-family residential Mays Construction
Z-2021-23 4/19/2021 5670-28-3350 357 N. Main St. Accessory Storage Shed Alexander Canup

*new PIN pending
  9 Zoning Permits


	3, 4, & 5-2021 Permit Report.pdf
	Feb 2021
	Mar 2021
	Apr 2021




